**PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
FROM DENIAL OF POST-CONVICTION RELIEF**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2010-CP-46-0436

Berry Scott Bolin,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

2014-000281

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

T. Micah Leddy  
Leddy Law Firm, LLC  
2008 Lincoln Street  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 779-9966  
(803) 753-0837 (fax)  
micah@leddylaw.com  
Attorney for Petitioner

Other Counsel of Record:  
Salley W. Elliott, Esquire  
Assistant Attorney General  
Attorney for Respondent

**RECEIVED**

SEP 11 2014

**S.C. Supreme Court**

**QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- I. THE PCR COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT TRIAL COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO CALL A POTENTIAL EXCULPATORY WITNESS AFTER DECIDING TO PUT UP A DEFENSE CASE IN CHIEF, THEREBY LOSING LAST CLOSING
- II. THE PCR COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT TRIAL COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO SUBPOENA OR OTHERWISE OBTAIN VIDEOTAPE SURVEILLANCE FROM AMERICAN AUTO SALES, WHERE THE ALLEGED VICTIMS STOPPED THEIR VEHICLE ON THE WAY TO THE POLICE STATION WHEN IT WAS THE DEFENSE'S THEORY AT TRIAL THAT THE PURPOSE OF THE STOP WAS TO DISCARD WEAPONS
- III. THE PCR COURT ERRED IN DENYING PETITIONER'S REQUEST TO CONDUCT AN IN-CAMERA REVIEW OF MATERIALS WITHHELD BY THE STATE UNDER A PURPORTED ATTORNEY WORK-PRODUCT PRIVILEGE WHEN THE MATERIALS WERE NOTES FROM WITNESS INTERVIEWS CONDUCTED BY THE DEPUTY SOLICITOR
- IV. THE PCR COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT TRIAL COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO ASCERTAIN THAT THE "CASTLE DOCTRINE" STATUTE DID NOT APPLY TO THE CASE. THIS DEFICIENT REPRESENTATION LED TO PETITIONER REJECTING A 15 YEAR PLEA OFFER IN FAVOR OF RELYING ON THE ACT THAT WAS CLEARLY NOT APPLICABLE
- V. THE PCR COURT ERRED IN DENYING PETITIONER LEAVE TO AMEND HIS POST-CONVICTION RELIEF APPLICATION AFTER THE EVIDENTIARY HEARING IN ORDER TO CONFORM THE PLEADINGS TO THE EVIDENCE ADDUCED, WHICH
  - a. SHOWED THAT THE STATE HAD ELICITED FALSE TESTIMONY FROM HOLLY MCCARTER BECAUSE SHE DID NOT SWITCH SEATS AS SHE TESTIFIED IN THE STATE'S CASE IN CHIEF
  - b. SHOWED THAT TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN THAT HE FAILED TO EVEN MENTION THE POLICE STATION VIDEO PROVING MCCARTER LIED
- VI. TRIAL COUNSEL WAS DEFICIENT IN FAILING TO REQUEST A NEW JURY FOLLOWING PETITIONER'S CO-DEFENDANT PLEADING GUILTY AFTER BEING INTRODUCED TO THE JURY.

TRIAL COUNSEL FAILED TO REQUEST A NEW JURY OR A  
CURATIVE INSTRUCTION FROM THE COURT EXPLAINING THE  
NON-TESTIFYING CO-DEFENDANT'S ABSENCE

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On the night of February 18<sup>th</sup>, 2006, Petitioner, Berry Bolin, and several other individuals were guests in the home of Bradley Deal. Travis Falls, Holly McCarter, Bobby Hovis, and two others decided to drive to Deal's home to attack Deal, his brother, and various other parties present at Deal's home. Falls, who was recently arrested for assaulting Bradley Deal, was under a bond provision forbidding any contact with Deal or his home. Despite the bond provision, he and four others drove to Deal's home, pulling up on the roadside just past the front of the driveway. Several antagonistic phone messages were exchanged by the groups prior to Falls and company arriving at the Deal house. Upon their arrival, people began to rush outside of Deal's home, including the Petitioner, Berry Bolin. Falls and the others exited the car and several altercations ensued.

As the Petitioner exited the home, he heard someone yell to get a gun. He proceeded to his truck parked in the front of Deal's home and retrieved a pistol from the glove compartment. Petitioner testified heard gunfire near the car and to his side. Falls and the others ran back to the car and got inside. As they entered the vehicle, Petitioner heard more shots being fired near the car. Petitioner and another individual who was standing beside him fired several shots at the vehicle. A bullet of the same caliber as the Petitioner's pistol shattered the rear window, passed through Falls' wrist and hit Hovis in the head. The car proceeded away from the scene and headed to the Clover Police Department, stopping along the way at a business called

American Auto Sales. The reason for this stop became a major issue in the case, with the Defense arguing that its purpose was to dispose of weapons while the State's theory was that Holly McCarter became too hysterical to drive when she discovered that Hovis was dead. An ambulance was dispatched and Falls and Hovis were taken to the hospital. Hovis was pronounced dead at the hospital. Falls received treatment and was released.

Petitioner was indicted in May 2006 by the York County Grand Jury for murder (2006-GS-46-1595), assault and battery with intent to kill (ABIK) (2006-GS-46-1596); possession of a firearm during commission of a violent crime (2006-GS-46-1597); two charges of assault with intent to kill (AIK) (2006-GS-46-1598 & -1599), discharging a firearm into an occupied vehicle (2006-GS-46-1600), and possession of a pistol under the age of 21. App. 355.

In August 2006, Mr. Bolin went to trial in the Circuit Court in York County before The Honorable John Hayes, Circuit Court Judge, and was represented by Leland B. Greeley, Esquire. Also present at the outset of his trial was his co-defendant, Ronald Lee Owens, who was represented by Thomas A McKinney, Esquire. Although Mr. Owens had admitted to contemporaneously firing his own pistol into the same car as Mr. Bolin, Mr. Owens was never charged with murder under "the hand of one is the hand of all" theory of accomplice liability. Instead, Mr. Owens was only charged with discharging a firearm into a vehicle and several counts of assault with intent to kill (AIK).

After a jury was selected and introduced to the defendants, but before the jury was sworn, the trial court dismissed the jury for the day and took up pre-trial

motions. Mr. Bolin and Mr. Owens both filed motions to dismiss the charges on the basis that they had immunity afforded by the Protection of Persons and Property Act, S.C. Code of Laws 16-11-410 et. Seq. (effective June 9, 2006). See App. Vol 4 p. 1813 et seq. The State opposed the motions, arguing that the Act was prospective in nature, and, therefore, would not apply to this case because the incident in question preceded the effective date of the Act. The State further argued that, even if the Act were applicable to this case, the defendants were not entitled to a dismissal based on the facts of the case. Judge Hayes ruled that the issue of self-defense was one for a jury, and therefore declined to rule upon the motions. App. Vol 2 p. 817.

Mr. Bolin also filed a pre-trial motion to quash the indictment against him for possession of a pistol by a person less than 21 years of age on the basis that it was unconstitutional under the South Carolina Constitution. This motion was granted by the trial Court, and the Court's order was ultimately upheld on the State's appeal to the Supreme Court of South Carolina. See *State v. Bolin* 378 S.C. 96 (2008). App. P. 46.

At the start of court on the first morning after jury selection, Mr. Ronald Lee Owens entered a negotiated no-contest plea to his charges and received a sentence of 10 years, suspended on service of 5 years and 5 years probation.

After Mr. Owens pled no contest and was sentenced the trial against Mr. Bolin proceeded with the same jury. At the close of the State's case, Mr. Bolin moved for a directed verdict, again attempting to apply the Protection of Persons and Property Act, and that motion was denied. After putting up one defense witness, Mr. Bolin requested that the statutory presumptions contained in the Protection of

Persons and Property Act be charged to the jury, and the motion was denied. The jury returned guilty verdicts against Mr. Bolin on lesser-included offenses. On the murder charge Mr. Bolin was convicted of the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter, and he received a 30-year sentence. Mr. Bolin was also convicted of the lesser included on all but one of his other charges – possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, on which he was acquitted – and all sentences were ordered to run concurrently. App. Vol. 4 P. 1806.

Mr. Bolin was represented by Mr. Greeley on the direct appeal of his case, which was affirmed by the South Carolina South Carolina Court of Appeals. See State v. Bolin, 381 S.C. 557 (2009). App. P. 51. Petitioner then brought this action *pro se* seeking post-conviction relief on February 1, 2010 alleging only ineffective assistance of counsel. App P. 58. The State filed its return on June 30, 2010. Counsel was retained and a First Amended PCR application was filed on or about December 29, 2011. App. P. 64. Petitioner filed a Motion for Leave to Conduct Limited Discovery on February 16, 2012, which was denied following a hearing before The Hon. Lee S. Alford, Circuit Court Judge. App. P. 301; 374. The materials sought in the Discovery motion were part of the subpoena issued to Deputy Solicitor Willy Thompson for his appearance at the PCR hearing on October 11, 2012. At the hearing, Mr. Thompson produced a privilege log. App. P. 311. After reviewing the privilege log following the hearing, Petitioner's request for documents to be reviewed by the Court was reduced to 3 boxes that the State said were work-product privileged witness interview notes. App. P. 314. The Court ultimately denied Petitioner's access to these records.

Following the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner filed a Second Amended PCR Application in order to add claims of prosecutorial misconduct and ineffective assistance of counsel related to Holly McCarter's trial testimony. App. P. 324. The State opposed this and the Court ultimately denied Petitioner's motion to file the Second Amended PCR application. The PCR Court issued its dismissal of Petitioner's PCR case on December 27, 2013. App. P. 8. Petitioner filed a Rule 59(e) motion to alter or amend the judgment of the PCR court, which was denied on February 6, 2014. App. P. 1.

The circuit court denied the application on January 7, 2014, and a notice of appeal was served on February 20, 2014. Petitioner now seeks a writ of certiorari to review this denial.

### **ARGUMENT**

- I. THE PCR COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT TRIAL COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO CALL A POTENTIAL EXCULPATORY WITNESS AFTER DECIDING TO PUT UP A DEFENSE CASE IN CHIEF, THEREBY LOSING LAST CLOSING

Petitioner's First Amended Application for Post Conviction Relief had claims for failing to call two witness – Samantha Eason and Eric Brown. Ms. Eason failed to show at the hearing, and the claim based on her testimony was denied by the PCR court. App. P. 20. Petitioner is not appealing the PCR court's determination based on trial counsel's failure to call Ms. Eason as a witness.

At the PCR evidentiary hearing, Petitioner called Eric Brown as a witness. App. P. 462. Mr. Brown was at the party and testified that he saw gunfire coming from one of two cars that he saw come to the party before the fight started (some of the people at the party recounted seeing two cars and some only one car). Mr. Brown

testified that he was interviewed by detectives for the police and the solicitor's office – stating that Deputy Solicitor Willy Thompson may have interviewed him – as well as by a detective working for Petitioner's trial counsel. Mr. Brown testified that, had he been called as a witness, he would have testified that he "saw gunfire coming from a car before anybody started shooting from the house." Trial counsel explained that he hadn't called Mr. Brown to testify for "a couple of reasons." The reasons, in essence, were that it wouldn't make sense to put up cumulative evidence from a "yahoo gathering." Second, that Mr. Brown's testimony would have been that gunfire was coming from a different car than the one that Petitioner fired into. App. Vol. 2 P. 501 *et seq.* The person who was supposedly driving the second car, Jeff Buck, died about a month and a half after the altercation from a drug overdose, so trial counsel felt that to put up Mr. Brown would not have been credible as the two car theory lacked evidentiary support. *Id.*

On the first point, trial counsel was mistaken because Mr. Brown's testimony was not cumulative. As Deputy Solicitor Thompson would ultimately admit, the only other person who would ultimately testify at trial to seeing any gunfire coming from one of the vehicles was Bradley Deal. App. P.. One other witness, Robert Beverly, had previously testified that he saw gunfire, but he later recanted that at trial. App. P. 599. Line 2. See also App. P. 600 line 13; see also App. P. 1372 lines 17 *et seq.* (witness recanting prior statement on cross by trial counsel). Therefore, because trial counsel failed to call Mr. Brown as a witness, the jury was left with only Bradley Deal's testimony that Petitioner was rightfully responding to gunfire from one of the cars. See App. P. 558 line 13 thru p. 599 line 14 (jury heard

testimony of gunfire from car only from Robert Beverly, who changed his statement, and Bradley Deal).

As Deputy Solicitor Thompson went on to explain, Deal's testimony – the only testimony put to the jury that gunfire came from the cars first – was not believable because Deal's version of events was physically impossible. App. P. 591 line 20 thru P. 593 line 25; see also p. 1543 (Deal testifying that it was the front passenger window from which he saw a gun fired). This testimony was apparently so ridiculous that the jury audibly gasped at its absurdity, yet trial counsel relied on it exclusively to support his theory that Petitioner was acting in self-defense when he fired. App. P. 600 line 5 et seq.

Counsel's failure to call Mr. Brown as a witness in this case was unreasonable and constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel. *Grier v. State*, 299 S.C. 321, 384 S.E.2d 722 (1989). Here, Brown's testimony that he saw gunfire coming from one of the assailants' cars prior to Petitioner firing was crucial to the Petitioner's self-defense claim. "A PCR Petitioner is entitled to relief based on ineffective assistance of trial counsel if he can establish that counsel's performance was deficient and that this deficiency prejudiced his defense." *Grier*, 299 S.C. at 323 (citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)). The PCR court held that trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to call Mr. Brown. App. P. 51-52. Petitioner respectfully submits that the PCR court's reasoning is incorrect because trial counsel was not able to put forth any evidence that there was gunfire coming from a car prior to Petitioner firing other than from Bradley Deal, and, as previously discussed, that version of events was not remotely credible. Petitioner respectfully disagrees with

the PCR court that there was any law enforcement derived evidence that would support its holding that such evidence was used by trial counsel to support the self-defense theory at trial because no law enforcement person testified that there was evidence of gunfire from a car – the only evidence was from Bradley Deal. Petitioner furthermore respectfully disagrees that Mr. Brown’s version of events was not consistent – Petitioner is unaware of any time that it changed. Petitioner finally disagrees with the PCR court’s determination that testimony from Mr. Brown that gunfire was coming from a car different from the one that Petitioner fired into would have obviated a jury finding of self-defense. It would be for the jury to determine whether Petitioner acted in fear for his life and whether firing into Mr. Hovis’ vehicle was a reasonable reaction to such fear. While witnesses disagreed as to the number of vehicles that came to the party, no one would deny that all of the people in the vehicles were acting in concert because, as Holly McCarter testified they went there to fight. App. P. 1157.

••• Trial counsel’s decision not to call Mr. Brown is particularly unreasonable when considered in light of the fact that counsel did call a witness in the defense’s case in chief, and thereby lost last closing. The one witness that counsel called was Merry Collins, who compiled the discovery materials on the case for the York County Solicitor’s Office. App. P. 1654. Trial counsel testified that he called Ms. Collins to establish that two pages of one of Petitioner’s statements to law enforcement were turned over to the defense two months apart. App. P. 557. Trial counsel admitted that he lost last closing because of this, and that losing last closing was important. Id. At trial, Ms. Collins explained that she turned over materials as

the Sheriff provided them to her, and that it is not uncommon to get things out of chronological order. App. P. 1658-60. Petitioner submits that it is not reasonable to conclude that trial counsel was not ineffective when he decided not to call a witness that had crucial testimony about gunfire coming from the vehicles first yet lost last closing to call a completely pointless witness as the sole defense witness in the case. Petitioner submits that, had Mr. Brown been called as a witness, the jury verdict would likely have been different in this case.

II. THE PCR COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT TRIAL COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO SUBPOENA OR OTHERWISE OBTAIN VIDEOTAPE SURVEILLANCE FROM AMERICAN AUTO SALES, WHERE THE ALLEGED VICTIMS STOPPED THEIR VEHICLE ON THE WAY TO THE POLICE STATION WHEN IT WAS THE DEFENSE'S THEORY AT TRIAL THAT THE PURPOSE OF THE STOP WAS TO DISCARD WEAPONS

Petitioner called Mr. Rodney Nivens as a witness in his PCR evidentiary hearing. App. P. 453. Mr. Nivens owns American Auto Sales, which is where Ms. McCarter said she stopped her vehicle on the way to the police station to switch drivers. Mr. Nivens testified that his business had a video surveillance system and that no one from law enforcement, the Solicitor's office, or the defense ever came to ask him for a copy of his video. App. P. 454. Mr. Nivens testified that "they captured everything" that happened on his property, but that he had not reviewed the video from that night and it was no longer in existence. App. P. 456.

The issue of why Ms. McCarter stopped the vehicle at American Auto Sales on the way to the police station was critical to the defense of this case. Ms. McCarter testified that it was because she was too distraught to continue driving. App. P. 1146. At trial, the defense's theory was that they stopped there to get rid of weapons,

and that is why there weren't any weapons in the car when it arrived at the Clover Police station. App. P. 511 lines 19-22.

If trial counsel had obtained the video, then Petitioner would not have had to rely on other circumstantial evidence to rebut the real reason for the stop. Contrary to the PCR Court's determination, it is not mere speculation that this video would have been beneficial to the defense – there are two witnesses in the record who testified that McCarter was still driving when the vehicle arrived at the police station. The first witness is Clover Police Sergeant Michael Trabue, who testified that when the vehicle arrived at the Clover Police Department, the driver was female. App. P. 866 line 12. The second witness in the record is trial counsel, who testified emphatically at the PCR hearing that he had seen a video from the Clover Police Department surveillance that showed McCarter was still driving when they arrived there. App. P. 511 lines 2-24.

It is not mere speculation that this video would have provided exculpatory evidence to the Defense. These two witnesses provide strong evidence that the American Auto Sales video would have provided irrefutable evidence that the vehicle occupants discarded weapons when they stopped because, if the car didn't stop there to change drivers, there is no plausible reason other than to have discarded weapons. Counsel's failure to even inquire as to the existence of the video constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel.

III. THE PCR COURT ERRED IN DENYING PETITIONER'S REQUEST TO CONDUCT AN IN-CAMERA REVIEW OF MATERIALS WITHHELD BY THE STATE UNDER A PURPORTED ATTORNEY WORK-PRODUCT PRIVILEGE WHEN THE MATERIALS WERE NOTES FROM WITNESS INTERVIEWS CONDUCTED BY THE DEPUTY SOLICITOR

The Petitioner issued a subpoena to Deputy Solicitor Willy Thompson (“Solicitor”) to appear at the evidentiary hearing and produce “any and all documents in the possession of the York County Solicitor’s Office related to Travis Falls (DOB: XXXXX AND Berry Bolin (DOB: XXXXX.” The Solicitor appeared and asserted a work-product privilege for a large amount of materials. The Petitioner sought for the PCR court to make the materials an exhibit for the record, which the court took under advisement. Thereafter, the Petitioner, having reviewed the Solicitor’s privilege log, reduced his request to three folders containing witness interview notes from the Solicitor and his investigator. The PCR court denied the Petitioner’s request. App. P. 66-71. The PCR court held that “[t]his Court finds that the discovery of the folders sought by Petitioner containing notes taken by the prosecutor and the prosecutor’s investigator during interviews with potential witnesses in preparation for trial constitutes attorney work product. See Rule 26(b)(1), SCRPC.” The Petitioner respectfully submits that this was error.

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