STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from York County
Honorable Edgar Dickson, Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-000281

RECEIVED

JAN 15 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

BERRY S. BOLIN,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

SALLEY W. ELLIOTT
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No: 1871

Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

that counsel provided ineffective assistance in connection with Petitioner's rejection of the guilty plea offer or in failing to revisit the matter with the prosecutor after the trial court's ruling. (App. 27-29).

The record reflects that trial counsel engaged plea negotiations before trial but did not receive an offer Petitioner found acceptable. (App. 537). Pre-trial matters were heard the first day of trial at the conclusion of which the trial court denied Petitioner's motion to bar his prosecution based upon the Act but indicated it would revisit the matter as it might relate to directed verdict and or other issues during trial. (App. 538). The trial court reiterated that the facts did not appear to fall within the provisions of the Act but would review the issue further. (App. 539). The record reflects that Petitioner was present in court when these statements were made by the trial court. (App. 480; 537-39).

Counsel testified that he hoped the Act might be applied retroactively to Petitioner's case but knew that the savings clause of the Act was unfavorable for retroactive application. Counsel did not believe he would be successful in using the Act and fully advised Petitioner of his concerns. (App. 481 – 88; 536-37; 541; 554-55). On the second day of trial, the State extended an offer to allow Petitioner to plead to voluntary manslaughter for a negotiated sentence of fifteen (15) years and concurrent sentences on the other charges. (App. 537). Counsel discussed the plea offer and the trial judge's rulings up to that point as well as the trial judge's complaints about the leniency of the negotiated sentence for Owens. Counsel recommended that Petitioner accept the offer and explained the reasons, including the likely sentence if convicted, trial judge's comments during Owens plea, the results of counsel's investigation, the facts of the case, strengths and weaknesses of the State's case and of the defense, problems with application of the Act to the case, counsel's experience in the trial of murder cases and counsel's specific

experience with the trial judge. Counsel arranged for a meeting between Petitioner and his family and informed the family members that he advised Petitioner to accept the plea offer. Despite counsel's discussion, advice, and recommendation, Petitioner rejected the plea offer after discussing his options with family members. Counsel testified that once the plea offer was declined, it was no longer available to Petitioner. (App. 495-500; 538-42; 562)

Deputy Solicitor Thompson confirmed that he engaged in plea discussions with counsel before trial and initially offered to allow Petitioner to plead "straight up" to voluntary manslaughter and some of the companion charges. Later, Thompson offered a cap of twenty (20) years. Both offers were rejected. Thompson also confirmed that, during trial, he extended a plea offer to voluntary manslaughter for a negotiated sentence of fifteen (15) years and concurrent sentences on the other charges. Thompson testified that the trial judge delayed the trial and allowed Petitioner to speak with his attorney and family members after which the offer was declined. Thompson confirmed that the plea offer would not have been entertained later during trial. (App. 586-89).

Respondent submits that Petitioner failed to establish that counsel provided ineffective assistance in connection with Petitioner's rejection of the plea offer or in failing to revisit the matter with the prosecutor later during trial. Counsel conferred with Petitioner extensively about his options and the possible consequences of accepting or rejecting the offer extended on the second morning of trial and recommended that Petitioner accept the offer. The discussion included counsel's advice that the Act would likely not apply. Petitioner was also present in court when the trial court denied counsel's motion to dismiss the charge on that basis and knew trial was proceeding against him. Counsel also conferred with Petitioner's family members about the offer and counsel's recommendation and made arrangements for them to meet with

Petitioner prior to Petitioner's decision to reject the plea offer. The prosecutor confirmed that counsel looked "dejected" about Petitioner's decision to reject the plea offer. (App. 589). The PCR Court properly determined counsel did all he could to convince Petitioner to accept the plea offer and correctly determined that, once declined, the plea offer was not available and efforts to revisit the plea would have been futile. Petitioner's complaints respecting counsel and the guilty plea offer are without merit and were correctly denied.

V.

The PCR court correctly denied Petitioner's request to amend his PCR application to add new allegations after the evidentiary hearing when the allegations were not litigated by the State, expressly or tacitly, and when the State would be greatly prejudiced by the amendments.

Three months after the PCR hearing and the PCR court's communication to counsel for both parties that it intended to deny relief, Petitioner moved for leave to amend his PCR application to allow for consideration of four new allegations as set forth in a Second Amended Application for Post-Conviction Relief. (App.321-332). The amendments were based on testimony elicited by Petitioner's direct examination of his trial counsel about the existence of a video alleged to show that Holly McCarter was driving the car when the victims arrived at the police department. (App. 351-52; 478; 511). Respondent opposed the request asserting that it had no notice of the new PCR allegations at the time of the hearing, that lack of notice precluded investigation and presentation of evidence to refute the new allegations, and that the new allegations were matters that could have included in the application or amended application through the exercise of due diligence, that permitting the amendments would leave Respondent without the opportunity to defend against the claims and would result in great prejudice to Respondent. (App. 333-335; 344). Respondent argued it did not expressly or tacitly agree to litigate the allegations at the hearing and did not elicit evidence respecting the claims. To the

extent Petitioner suggested that Respondent's position regarding pre-trial discovery or its objection to the wholesale introduction of the prosecutor's entire file as evidence at the PCR hearing can be considered litigation of the new allegations, Respondent asserted that the record does not support Petitioner's position. Counsel for Respondent did not take a position regarding Petitioner's access to the prosecutor's files and its return to the discovery request merely recited the applicable statute requiring a showing of good cause for noncapital PCR discovery requests. (App. 307-09). At the PCR hearing, counsel for Respondent objected to Petitioner's request for the wholesale admission into evidence of the prosecutor's entire file consisting of multiple boxes of material because Petitioner failed to establish that everything in the boxes was relevant to the PCR allegations pending before the court. Respondent further contested that it tacitly agreed to litigate the new allegation respecting the "Castle Doctrine;" rather, the evidence elicited at the PCR hearing pertained to the appellate counsel claim and Respondent limited its evidence to that issue as alleged in applications filed before the hearing. (App. 333-35; 344).

The PCR court's denial of Petitioner's request to amend with the Second Amended Application for Post-Conviction Relief pursuant to Rule 15 (b), SCRCP, must be affirmed. (App. 345-46; 40 – 44). While pleadings may be amended to conform to evidence presented at trial, amendment should be permitted only if it does not prejudice the opposing party's effort to maintain his case. See Rule 15(b), SCRCP. Generally, courts seek to ensure the opposing counsel has notice that the new issue is going to be tried and is provided with an opportunity to refute any new claim. Pool v. Pool, 329 S.C. 324, 328-329, 494 S.E.2d 820, 823 (1998). When both sides have thoroughly contested an issue that is not in the original pleadings, courts will generally allow the pleading to be amended to include that issue. Simpson v. Moore, 367 S.C. 587, 599, 627 S.E.2d 701, 708 (2006); see also, Sossamon v. Peeler, 291 S.C. 256, 258, 353

S.E.2d 152, 154(Ct. App. 1987); Lee v. Bunch, 373 S.C. 654, 661-62, 64 S.E.2d 197, 201 2007). However, this Court has specifically determined that prejudice “occurs when the amendment states a [claim or defense] which would require the opposing party to introduce additional or different evidence to prevail in the amended action.” Lee v. Bunch, 373 S.C. at 661, 647 S.E.2d at 201.

Respondent submits that the application for post-conviction relief was initially filed on February 1, 2010. (App. 58 - 64). The Second Amended Application for Post-Conviction Relief was filed by retained counsel on December 30, 2011. (App.295-300). The PCR hearing was convened on October 11, 2012, almost ten (10) months after the application was amended and more than two years after the PCR action was initiated. The PCR court devoted an entire day to testimony and other evidence, took the matter under advisement, and issued a preliminary ruling. The issues as alleged in the applications filed before the hearing were fully litigated.

Respondent was not on notice of the four new allegations at the time of the PCR hearing and did not present evidence in response to the claims. Respondent was denied the ability to investigate and develop a record to defend against the allegations. Respondent notes for this Court that when it announced the case, it clarified on the record its understanding of the allegations Petitioner intended to pursue and received verification from Petitioner. (App. 427-29). Respondent submits that this not a situation where both parties fully litigated new issues during the hearing.

The PCR court correctly applied the law governing motions to amend after evidentiary proceedings are over and properly exercised its discretion to deny the amendments. The denial of the motion to amend must be affirmed. See Holland ex rel. Knox v. Morbark, Inc., 407 S.C. 227, 754 S.E.2d 714 (Ct. App. 2014)(stating that amendment to pleading after the conclusion of

discovery to include new claims would have been prejudicial to Respondent where Plaintiff had already obtained one amendment, had the knowledge necessary to alert him to the relevance of the new claim at the close of discovery and the new theory would require Respondent to hire experts and take additional depositions); Collins Entertainment, Inc. v. White, 33 S.C. 546, 611 S.W.2d 262 (Ct. App. 2005)(stating that prejudice envisioned by the rules of civil procedure sufficient to warrant the denial of a motion to amend is the lack of notice that a new issue is to be tried and the lack of opportunity to refute it); Harvey v. Strickland , 350 S.C. 303, 314, 566 S.E2d 529, 535 (2002) (stating that when the court determines one party requires additional or different evidence to accurately refute a claim that is not in the original pleading, the amendment is not permitted); Continental Radio and Television Corp. v. Furman, 193 S.C. 357, 8 S.E.2d 902, 904 (1940) (court would not permit amendment when plaintiff originally asserted defendant breached contract by advertising, offering for sale and selling radios, and plaintiff sought to amend to assert advertising, offering for sale, and sell of radios by third party without defendant's knowledge and permission); see also White v. Benedict Coll., Inc., 288 S.C. 572, 344 S.E2d 147 (1986) (plaintiff's request to amend complaint at the close of evidence to include a claim of assault and battery when the original complaint alleged sexual harassment was not permitted because it would require additional and different evidence); Lane v. Berry, 288 S.C. 54, 57, 339 S.E2d 521, 523 (Ct. App. 1986) (stating amendment requested at the at the close of plaintiff's case was not permitted because defendant not afforded adequate opportunity to gather additional evidence and prepare additional testimony to counter the new claim.); Ball v. Canadian Amendment Am. Exp., Inc., 314 S.C. 272, 276, 442 S.E.2d 620, 623(Ct. App. 1994) (stating plaintiff may not amend after the trial was concluded to convert a claim of fraud in the

inducement to a claim of fraud in the breach after the trial because the new claim would require presentation of different evidence).

Respondent did not tacitly or expressly agree to litigate the new allegations and the amendments proposed by Petitioner after the hearing would greatly prejudice Respondent.

“Prejudice occurs when the amendment states a new claim or defense which would require the opposing party to introduce additional or different evidence to prevail in the amended action.”

Ball v. Canadian American Express, 314 S.C. 272, 275, 442 S.E.2d 620, 622 (Ct. App. 1994)

(internal citations omitted). The allegations in Petitioner’s Second Amended Application would require the State to undertake not only a thorough, unanticipated investigation of evidence it had no prior notice would be at issue when the hearing was convened, but would also likely require the PCR court to reconvene the hearing for testimony from witnesses for both parties.

Petitioner’s Second Amended Application presents allegations associated with testimony elicited by Petitioner from his own witness and about which Petitioner, upon the exercise of due diligence, should have been aware of before the hearing. Petitioner has been in the possession of trial counsel’s file since the conclusion of the direct appeal. (App. 526). There is no valid reason why the new claims were not included in the pleadings filed before the hearing.

Respondent is placed in at an unfair disadvantage with allegations about which it had no notice or the opportunity to investigate, prepare a defense, and present evidence. The motion to amend was properly denied. Moreover, Petitioner admits in his petition that he had possession of the pole department video before the PCR hearing and concedes the video does not show who was driving the victims’ car when it arrived at the police department.

VI.

Petitioner may not present on appeal an issue of ineffective assistance of counsel for counsel's failure to request a new jury or a curative instruction when the PCR court denied Petitioner's request to amend his application to include this allegation and when the PCR court did not rule on the issue?

The record reflects that after the jury was selected, it was excused from court while pre-trial matters were heard outside of its presence which included the entry of a plea by Petitioner's co-defendant. (App. 495; 515-17). When the jury returned, it was instructed that the case was concluded as to the co-defendant. (App. 516-18). Petitioner complains because trial counsel did not request that the trial court to provide a jury instruction defining what it meant by "concluded" and charging the jury it should not to consider the co-defendant's absence. Alternatively, he contends counsel should have requested a new jury. When trial counsel was questioned about the matter at the PCR hearing, Respondent objected on the ground it had not been given notice of the allegation. (App. 516-18). After the PCR hearing, Petitioner moved for permission to amend to add this allegation. The motion to amend was denied as has been discussed in Respondent's Argument V. The PCR court did not address the issue in its Order of Dismissal (App. 8 – 45). Petitioner submitted a Rule 59 Motion to Alter or Amend renewing his motion to amend and asking the PCR court to address the new allegations in a Second Amended Application submitted after the PCR hearing. Although he specifically argued some of the new claims in his Rule 59 motion, he did not mention this allegation. (App. p. 349-353). The PCR court denied the motion to alter or amend. (App. 3).

Respondent submits that this Court should decline to consider this issue. It was not raised as an allegation prior to the PCR hearing was clearly based on the trial transcript, was not permitted as an amended claim after the hearing, was not ruled upon, and the lack of ruling was not specifically included in the motion to alter or amend. Accordingly the argument is not

preserved for review on appeal. Burgess v. State, 402 S.C. 92, 738 S.E.2d 264 (Ct.App. 2013); Smith v. State, 404 S.C. 493, 745 S.E.2d 378 (Ct.App. 2012); see also Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 497 S.E.2d 731 (1998) (an issue must be presented to and ruled upon by the trial court before it may be considered on appeal).